IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

PETITION TO REVIEW DECISION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT  
OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA  
4<sup>th</sup> DCA Appeal No. 4D05-1598

DAMIEN PENDERGRASS, Etc. et al  
Petitioners,

vs.

R.D. MICHAELS, INC. Et. Al.  
Respondents.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

SC No. \_\_\_\_\_ TBA

ON APPEAL FROM DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL  
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT  
Fourth District Appeal NO. 4D05-1598

Jeanne C. Brady, Esq.  
Florida Bar No. 0997749

Frank R. Brady, Esq.  
Florida Bar No. 0588024

Brady & Brady, P.A.  
370 Camino Gardens Blvd., Suite 200C  
Boca Raton, FL 33432  
Phone: (561) 338-9256

Arvid J. Peterson, III, Esq.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On a very windy day in January, 2000 two unbraced, 14 foot tall, concrete block walls were under construction, with no bracing and no permanent supporting structures. Employee, Arthur Lee Pendergrass, Jr. (“Decedent”) was instructed by his employer to clean the area around the walls, and was crushed to death when they collapsed upon him [AA p. 2].<sup>1</sup> Michaels was the general contractor, sub-contracted with Oceanview to build the concrete block walls, and used Staff Leasing to provide employees for the job [Id. p. 1]. Oceanview hired Decedent as a mason tender just days before the fatal collapse [Id.]. Decedent was employed by all three defendants [Id.]. A mason tender is an unskilled laborer who assists masons [Id.]. During that very windy Friday afternoon, the 14 ft. high walls were not braced, had no tied beams, no rebar (steel reinforcement) and no permanent support structures [AA p. 2]. Michaels' job superintendent discussed with Oceanview's owner the need to brace the walls due to more windy weather expected over the weekend [Id.]. Sometime later, Decedent was cleaning up the site for bracing when the walls collapsed and killed him [Id.]. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) investigated [Id.]. It cited Michaels with safety violations for failure to establish a limited access zone prior to the start

---

<sup>1</sup> The facts are taken from the face of the Fourth District’s decision.

of construction of the masonry wall, and failure to adequately brace masonry walls over 8 ft. high to prevent collapse until permanent elements of the structure were in place [Id.]. Both were classified as "serious" violations [Id.].

OSHA cited Oceanview with safety violations for failure to: (1) initiate or maintain a safety program for employees; (2) instruct employees in recognition and avoidance of unsafe conditions; (3) establish a limited access zone prior to the start of construction; and (4) adequately brace masonry walls over 8 ft. high to prevent collapse [AA p. 2]. The first 3 violations were "serious" and the 4<sup>th</sup> was "willful" [Id.]. OSHA's report found Oceanview had knowledge of its regulation that masonry walls over 8 ft. require bracing, and deemed the nature and extent of its violation to be "plain indifference to the safety and health of its employees" [AA p. 3]. It further found Oceanview "*intentionally disregarded its health and safety responsibility because there was no safety program, and the employees were not trained for the task*" [Id.] (e.s). Oceanview promptly settled the willful citation with OSHA [Id.].

Decedent's Estate sued all three defendants for wrongful death [Id.]. Defendants had no expert. The Estate's expert opined on every allegation of the complaint, which in turn alleged that defendants failed to provide a limited access zone, failed to brace walls until permanent support were in place, deliberately

failed to comply with safety standards and failed to provide a safety program or instruct Decedent on safety precautions or recognition of dangers [AA pp. 3-4]. Against Staff Leasing, the Estate alleged deliberate disregard of a standard, failure to instruct Decedent about recognition and avoidance of unsafe conditions and failure to provide a safety program [Id.]. The complaint alleged, and the expert opined, that all defendants knew or should have known that their acts were substantially certain to cause injury or death [Id.]. Defendants testified that they had no wall collapse before [Id.]. One insisted that is not unusual for walls to progress without braces where there is a limited access area around them [Id.]. Mr. Schaeffer admitted that Oceanview had no specific safety program, but claimed that it generally told employees to use common sense and to be careful, and that mason tenders were required to wear hard hats at all times [AA pp. 3-4]. The Decision *draws the conclusion* that Decedent “would have” received these instructions, even though it conversely acknowledges that OSHA found there was plain indifference to human life and no safety program, training or instructions on hazard avoidance [AA p. 4]. According to Mr. Schaeffer, scaffolds are sufficient bracing, but OSHA issued a willful violation for failing to brace these walls, stating that the failure constituted plain indifference to human life [AA pp. 3,4].

Plaintiffs' expert opined on the knowing failure to give safety training or instructions on how to avoid any hazards, as that too is contained in the complaint [Id.].

The Decision found that knowledge of a prior wall collapse and intentional conduct preventing Decedent from learning or appreciating the risks are required, but absent here [AA pp. 10-11]. It ruled that the criminal acts exception in § 440.11 does not apply to corporations [Id. p. 6]. It also found no evidence to satisfy *Turner's* substantial certainty test [Id. p. 11]. It says that *Decedent* (an unskilled laborer) should have known the wall might fall, while the employers with over 30 years' experience did not know it [Id., pp. 3, 11] (e.s.). Even though the Decision acknowledges evidence of no safety program or training to recognize hazards, and that Decedent was *unskilled* and only worked for a few days, it conversely rules that the danger that the walls might fall should have been obvious to Decedent [Id.]. While the Decision acknowledges that the record is not crystallized just as to whether scaffolds were even in place at the time of the accident, it affirms summary judgment based on workers' compensation immunity under § 440.11 because defendants never had a wall collapse in their "many years of experience" [AA p. 11]. Rehearing was denied on September 22, 2006.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review this case under Fla. Const. Article V § 3(b)(3) and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(iv), Fla.R.App.P. The Decision expressly and directly conflicts with *Turner v. PRC, Inc.*, 754 So. 2d 683(Fla. 2000) in at least three ways: (1) it reviews summary judgment under the neutral light of § 440.015, Fla. Stat., (2) it eviscerates *Turner's* objective substantial certainty test by imposing a *prior similar act* and *concealment* of that knowledge to prevent the employee from appreciating the risk involved; and (3) deems violations of OSHA safety standards insufficient to give rise to an inference as to whether the conduct that caused the violation is substantially certain to result in injury or death. The neutral light of § 440.015 conflicts with *Turner* and changes fundamental principles of summary judgment. It also conflicts with *Reeves v. Fleetwood Homes of Florida, Inc.*, 889 So.2d 812, 821 (Fla. 2004) because it does not employ the “necessary steps” to assess summary judgment or every possible inference in favor of the non-movant.

## ARGUMENT

### I. **THIS COURT HAS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE FOURTH DISTRICT’S DECISION DUE TO CONFLICT WITH TURNER AND FLEETWOOD**

The Decision expressly and directly conflicts with the objective substantially certainty test and its application set out in *Turner*. It also conflicts with the necessary steps on summary judgment reinforced in *Reeves v. Fleetwood Homes of Florida, Inc.*, 889 So.2d 812, 821 (Fla. 2004). The Decision applies the neutral light of Fla.Stat. § 440.015, stating that facts are not to be interpreted liberally in favor of either the rights of the injured worker or the rights of the employer [AA pp. 4-5] (e.s.). It also rules that disputes concerning the facts are not to be given a broad liberal construction in favor of either the employee (*non-movant*), on the one hand, or the employer (*movant*) on the other hand [Id.] (e.s.). Yet *Turner* adopted the “every possible inference” test set out in *Emergency One, Inc. v. Keffer*, 652 So. 2d 1233,1235 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1995), and requires the record and any supporting affidavits to be read in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Turner* at 684. This Decision says that Plaintiffs’ expert just parroted the complaint, while declining to articulate what he had to say [AA p. 12].

The neutral light of § 440.015 misapplies *Turner’s* standard, which is *no different* than any other non work related intentional tort case on summary judgment in circuit civil court. *Id.* at 684 (e.s.). The purpose of § 440.015 was merely to eliminate presumptions for the judge of compensation claims *within* the

workers' compensation system. *See Schafrath v. Marco Bay Resort, Ltd*, 608 So. 2d 97, 104 n. 3 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1992) (e.s.); *Johnson v. Koffee Kettle Restaurant*, 125 So.2d 297, 299 (Fla. 1960). The former § 440.26 mandated presumptions when the employee's claim fell within the system and the injury indisputably occurred on the job, but no evidence of causation was available. Section 440.015 abolished those presumptions and liberal construction in cases within that system, and now requires the claimant to put on proofs, instead of allowing presumptions to control ultimate causation issues. *See § 440.26(1)* (West 1989) (setting out presumptions) (repealed eff. June 26, 1990 ch. 90-201, § 26, Florida Laws); *Fla.Stat. § 440.015* (Supp. 1990). Those principles do not apply to a civil suit where the jury is the ultimate fact finder and the every possible inference controls on summary judgment. *Turner* at 689 (e.s.). The Decision recites Respondents' testimony that "mason tenders were required to wear hard hats at all times" [AA pp. 3-4]. It then *concludes* that "Pendergrass *would have* received these instructions", even though the expert's opinion and OSHA materials cited in the Decision conflict with that conclusion in that they state there was no training or safety instructions [Id.]. Thus, the Decision passed on the weight of the evidence and resolved factual disputes, thereby misapplying *Turner*. Accordingly, there is conflict jurisdiction. *See Ford*

***Motor Co. v. Kikis***, 401 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1981).

The Decision changes the objective, substantial certainty test to a subjective one by requiring the employee to show: (1) a *prior similar act* and (2) intentional *concealment* of that knowledge preventing the employee from appreciating the risk involved. ***Turner*** requires neither concealment nor prior similar acts, even though such evidence would pass its tests. Although ***Turner*** receded from its language in ***Fisher v. Shenandoah Gen. Constr. Co.***, 498 So. 2d 882 (Fla. 1986) that suggested the substantial certainty test required a showing of “virtual certainty”, it also deemed ***Fisher’s*** facts sufficient to satisfy its objective substantial certainty test. 754 So. 2d at 687 n. 4. However, this Decision applies ***Fisher’s*** virtual certainty language to hold that OSHA violations do not meet any objective substantial certainty test or even raise an inference [AA p. 11]. It holds that a willful safety violation only indicates indifference to a rule, but nothing to infer willful disregard of safety itself [AA p. 12]. *See 29 USC § 666(e)* (incarceration for willful violation of safety standard when death occurs). The Decision also rules that the possibility of collapsing walls should have been obvious to Decedent, despite evidence of no safety instructions or even a program on how to recognize or avoid hazards, while implying that collapsing walls would not be obvious to employers. Nowhere in

*Turner* or *Travelers Indem. Co. v. PCR Inc.*, 889 So.2d 779 (Fla.2004), did this Court deem it appropriate to consider whether *the employee* should have expected an injury to result. The Decision also distinguishes a skilled job from an unskilled job, and seems to indicate that training is not that important when the job is unskilled. This Court should exercise its jurisdiction to prevent these policies from becoming the law for pre-2003 amendment cases. Otherwise, employers with knowledge of OSHA safety standards and “many years of experience” in masonry construction are absolved from inferences that arise from failing to brace concrete walls with no permanent supporting structures, no limited access zone, known windy conditions and failure to train their unskilled employees as to how to recognize such hazards or appreciate the risks. The same unskilled and *untrained* laborer, on the other hand, is required by the Decision to know of the danger from his own common sense. *See, e.g., W.G. Fairfield Company v. OSHC*, 285 F.2d 499 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002) (hazard of crossing busy roadway not so obvious to eliminate safety training about it).

The Decision’s requirement of a prior wall collapse as an element of objective substantial certainty under *Turner* contradicts its reliance on *Connelly v. Arrow Air, Inc.*, 568 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1990) and *Cunningham v. Anchor*

*Hocking Corp.*, 558 So. 2d 93 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1990), each involving the *first* plane crash or death and both of which held that the facts were sufficient to support the virtually certain exception to immunity under *Lawton* and *Fisher*. Objectively speaking, the dangers and risks should have been ruled to be *obvious* to these employers, with their many years of experience and knowledge of OSHA standards, rather than holding the risks to be *obvious* to this unskilled, untrained laborer [AA p. 11]. Further, settlement of federal citations or no formal federal charges at all does nothing to erase the underlying conduct. *Turner* rules that workers' compensation should not affect the pleading or proof of an intentional tort where immunity is asserted, and that no employee should be held to a higher standard than any plaintiff in a non-work-related intentional tort case. 754 So. 2d at 689. Any party seeking summary judgment carries the heavy burden of conclusively establishing the absence of any genuine issue of fact as to all material allegations in the pleadings. *Foote v. Green Tree Acceptance, Inc.*, 597 So. 2d 803, 804 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA1991). Under a light most favorable to Decedent where defendants carry the burden, there are genuine issues of material fact (and there are different reasonable inferences arising from certain uncontroverted facts) relating to the deliberate utter disregard of safety and defendants' objective intent. Defendants here did not even

show crystalized facts let alone conclusively extinguish them, and the inconsistent testimony relied on has credibility problems, which calls for jury resolution.

As *Turner* is misapplied, there is conflict jurisdiction. *See Kikis*. The Decision also relies on *Bourassa v. Bush Entm't Corp.*, 929 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 2006) (SC06-1318) and *Casas v. Siemens Energy & Automation, Inc.*, 927 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2006) (SC06-1063), both pending decisions on jurisdiction. Should review be granted in either case, there will be prima facie jurisdiction on that basis too. *See Reuter v. McKenzie Check Advance, LLC.*, 930 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 2006) (so stating). This Court granted review of *The Bombay Co., Inc. v. Bakerman*, 891 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2004), which also tacked knowledge of a prior similar act and intentional concealment onto the objective substantial certainty test based on *Allstates Fireproofing v. Garcia*, 876 So. 2d 1222 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004). Confusion exists across the districts on this difficult issue, as evidenced by some very sharp dissents in pipeline cases involving accidents that predate the 2003 amendment of § 440.11. This Decision severs Federal regulations from their remedial purpose, which could negatively impact construction jurisprudence and safety. Evidence tending to show willful intent to violate known federal safety mandates infers a willful disregard of safety itself.

*American Wrecking Corp. v. Secretary of Labor*, 351 F.3d 1254 (US App. DC Cir. 2003) (knowing disregard of regulations *or* plain indifference to employee safety). The United States Supreme Court holds that “The Occupational Safety and Health Act imposes on covered employers a duty to provide working conditions that 'are free from recognized hazards that *are causing* or are likely to cause death or serious bodily harm' to their employees, as well as an obligation to comply with safety standards promulgated by the Secretary of Labor." *Chao v. Mallard Bay Drilling, Inc.*, 534 U.S. 235, 240-241, 122 S.Ct. 738, 151 L.Ed.2d 659 (2002) (e.s). The purpose is to prevent death from hazardous conduct. OSHA and the regulations are to be liberally construed to effectuate the Act's remedial purpose of promoting safe working conditions. *Whirlpool Corp. v. Marshall*, 445 U.S. 1, 13, 100 S.Ct. 883,891, 63 L.Ed.2d 154 (1980). The Decision strictly construes regulations, and effectively resets a national construction standard as to bracing, when OSHA said otherwise in this case. Unlike *Bombay, Bourassa* or *Casas*, this case involves a fatality in the face of evidence inferring well known but ignored safety regulations and no training at all. There is conduct that could have resulted in more than 60 days imprisonment. *29 USC § 666(e)*. Federal regulations are designed to work in tandem with the regulatory and deterrent effects on conduct that intentional tort law

provides. *People v. Chicago Magnet Wire Corp.*, 126 Ill.2d 356, 128 Ill.Dec. 517, 534 N.E.2d 962 (1989), *cert. den., sub nom. Asta v. Illinois*, 493 U.S. 809, 110 S.Ct. 52, 107 L.Ed.2d 21 (1989)). Important safety issues call for this Court to exercise its jurisdiction. Finally, misapplication of fundamental summary judgment principles could carry over to more than pipeline cases.

### CONCLUSION

Petitioners respectfully request this Court to exercise its discretionary conflict jurisdiction to review this Decision. *See Kikis*.