IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

PETITION TO REVIEW DECISION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF
APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA
4TH DCA Appeal No. 4D05-1598

DAMIEN PENDERGRASS, etc. et al
Petitioners,

vs.

R.D. MICHAELS, INC. Et. al.,
Respondents.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDANT, R.D. MICHAELS, INC.
SC No. SC06-2021

ON APPEAL FROM DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF
FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT
Fourth District Appeal No. 4D05-1598

Michele I. Nelson, Esquire
Amy Millan DeMartino, Esquire
**Wicker, Smith, O'Hara, McCoy,
Graham & Ford, P.A.**
1645 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard
Suite 700
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
561-689-3800 – Phone
561-689-9206 – Facsimile
MNelson@wickersmith.com

STATEMENT OF FACTS

While the Petitioners' Brief states that the facts were taken from the face of the Decision, there are several discrepancies which will be addressed in the order in which the Petitioners have set forth their facts. The Decision describes the weather as "windy" on that day; whereas Petitioners have characterized it as a "very windy" day. (AA p.2) OCEANVIEW CONSTRUCTION CORP. ("OCEANVIEW") hired the Decedent as a mason tender, rather than R.D. MICHAELS, INC. ("MICHAELS"), which was the general contractor. (Id.) The walls under construction had reached a height of eight feet about two days prior to the accident. (AA p.4) They had not been braced because the scaffolding around the walls was satisfactory bracing. (Id.) They were connected by rebar, but the tie beam had yet to be poured. (Id.) The four walls of the building had been completed on the Friday of the accident and were tied together at the corners by rebar, ready for the tie beam to be poured the following week. (AA p.2) MICHAELS' job superintendent discussed with OCEANVIEW'S owner the need to brace the walls due to the "possibility" of windy weather over the weekend, rather than windy weather that was "expected" over the weekend as stated by the Petitioners. (Id.)

The Decedent was a mason tender, who also totes the concrete block and cement, and generally provides the unskilled labor that the masons need to

construct a concrete block wall. (AA p.1-2) At around 3:00 p.m., the employees, including the Decedent, were cleaning up the site in preparation for the bracing when the north and south walls collapsed. (AA p.2) While the exact cause of the collapse is unknown, the evidence suggests that a strong gust of wind must have toppled the wall. OCEANVIEW'S contract with MICHAELS made OCEANVIEW responsible for the bracing of the walls. (AA p.3)

During the litigation, the Petitioners' expert filed an affidavit which simply recited the allegations of negligence in the complaint (AA p.4) and was unavailing in that it merely parroted the allegations and opined that the defendants were negligent. On deposition, Mr. Schaeffer, OCEANVIEW'S owner, testified that OCEANVIEW generally told its employees to use common sense and to be careful. (AA p.3-4) Mason tenders were also required to wear hard hats at all times. (AA p.4)

The Petitioners improperly assert arguments in the Statement of Facts concerning: the Decision's alleged requirements of knowledge of a prior wall collapse and intentional conduct in preventing Decedent from learning or appreciating risks; its ruling with respect to the criminal acts exception; and its finding of no evidence to satisfy the substantial certainty test in *Turner v. PCR, Inc.*, 754 So.2d 683 (Fla. 2000). Further, the Petitioners argue the merits of this

action in the Statement of Facts in addressing the Decision's alleged converse ruling regarding what should have been obvious to the Decedent.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioners improperly argue the merits of the Decision in their Jurisdictional Brief. However, in addressing the allegations in the Brief, the Respondent asserts that the Decision does not expressly or directly conflict with this Court's decisions in *Turner* and *Reeves*. First, the lower court applied the appropriate standard of review pursuant to Rule 1.510 in affirming summary judgment. The Decision carefully reviews the facts of the instant case, as well as other Florida decisions that found the intentional tort exception applied, warranting the entry of summary judgment. Second, the Decision is consistent with *Turner's* "substantial certainty" test in that it considered evidence of "prior similar acts" and "concealment" as factors in affirming summary judgment, rather than mandating these factors as necessary elements of an intentional tort. Finally, to the extent that the Petitioners' allegations regarding OSHA are proper issues for jurisdictional determination, the Decision appropriately held that violations of OSHA regulations are insufficient to show acts involving intentional torts, which are consistent with this Court's holding in *Fisher*, and does not conflict with *Turner* or *Reeves*.

ARGUMENT

The Jurisdictional Brief improperly asserts arguments that address the merits of the action and issues irrelevant to jurisdictional determination, such as allegations that the facts of the instant case give rise to material issues of fact and that the Decision distinguishes a skilled job from an unskilled job. However, the Respondent has addressed the Brief's issues relating to alleged conflict with *Turner v. PCR, Inc.*, 754 So.2d 683 (Fla. 2000) and *Reeves v. Fleetwood Homes of Florida, Inc.*, 889 So.2d 812 (Fla. 2004) as follows.

I. THE DECISION APPLIES THE APPROPRIATE STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO RULE 1.510; THEREFORE, THERE IS NO DIRECT CONFLICT WITH *TURNER* OR *REEVES*.

The Decision applied the appropriate standard of review for summary judgment in cases involving workers' compensation, which is the same standard stated in Rule 1.510, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, and as applied in *Turner*. The Petitioners contend that the Decision failed to distinguish between the standard for cases within the worker's compensation system and those "outside" of it, given the reference to §440.015, Florida Statutes. Thus, they state that the Decision applied a so-called "neutral light" test allegedly intended by that statute, rather than the "light most favorable to the non-moving party" test of Rule 1.510.

However, the Petitioners have clearly misconstrued the Decision's reference to §440.015, and have also failed to demonstrate how the Decision in fact applied

any standard of §440.015 to the instant case. In sum, §440.015 describes the legislative intent of the worker's compensation law. The *Turner* court referenced it as an introduction to its analysis of worker's compensation and the immunity that applies to employees. The Decision cites §440.015 in a similar manner and properly deduces that the legislature specifically rejected any liberal interpretation for workers' compensation laws, even though remedial legislation is generally interpreted liberally. (AA p.5)

From the Decision's logical deduction, the Petitioners have improperly inferred that the Decision applied this so-called "neutral light" test in determining the appropriateness of summary judgment in this case, rather than Rule 1.510. On the contrary, the Decision clearly meets the standard pursuant to *Turner* and Rule 1.510, which states that summary judgment shall be rendered if the evidence (pleadings, depositions, etc.) shows that "there is no genuine *issue* as to any *material fact* and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." (*emphasis added*) R.1.510(c). In accordance with this rule, the Decision concluded that "*no material issues of fact* remain." (*emphasis added*) (AA p.8). This language demonstrates that it did in fact review the facts of this case pursuant to the standard enunciated in Rule 1.510. Further, in its analysis, it cites to numerous cases in which the courts considered whether the employees' conduct was sufficient to "raise an issue of fact for the jury" and defeat summary judgment.

Id. at 5. The Decision considered these cases involving summary judgment issues and applied the rationales utilized by Florida courts to affirm the lower court's decision to grant summary judgment to Respondents.

The Petitioners have not cited to any language in the Decision that indicates that the Decision failed to review the facts in “a light most favorable to the non-moving party,” as stated in *Turner*. Rather, they have used circular reasoning to deduce that the Decision applied the wrong standard because it did not rule in their favor.

There is no indication in the Decision that this Court utilized any other standard than that used in Rule 1.510, *Turner*, and *Reeves*. Thus, the Decision does not expressly or directly conflict with this Court's decision in *Turner* or *Reeves* with respect to the standard of review utilized by the lower court.

II. THE DECISION PROPERLY APPLIES THE OBJECTIVE STANDARD PURSUANT TO *TURNER* AND DOES NOT REQUIRE THAT PRIOR SIMILAR ACTS OR CONCEALMENT EXIST FOR SUBSTANTIAL CERTAINTY TO APPLY.

This Court has expressly and consistently held that to prove an intentional tort, the employer must be shown to have either exhibited a deliberate intent to injure or engage in conduct substantially certain to result in injury or death. *See Turner*, 754 So.2d at 687. The Decision restates this rule and clarifies that this second alternative requires the court to apply an objective test, also set forth in *Turner*. (AA p.7); *Turner*, 754 So.2d at 688-89. It further analyzes the facts of

Connelly v. Arrow Air, Inc., 568 So.2d 44 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) and *Cunningham v. Anchor Hocking Corp.*, 558 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); the Decision states that the facts in those cases were sufficient to support proof of the “objective test” of intentional conduct substantially certain to cause injury or death. (AA p.8) The Decision also examines several other cases in which Florida courts found objective evidence that the requisite intentional conduct did not exist, and found their facts far more similar to the present case. (AA p.8-10)

It further observes that Florida courts have highlighted two factors which show the type of intentional conduct which a reasonable person (an objective standard) would consider resulting in the substantial certainty of injury or death. (AA p.8) A review of the facts of the several cases cited by the Decision demonstrates that these factors were used in the courts’ holdings. While the Decision acknowledges that the courts have used such factors in their objective analyses, it does not impose the factors as *requirements* for a finding of substantial certainty, despite the Petitioners’ claims. The Decision considered these factors, as this Court and others had also considered, in utilizing the objective test for determining substantial certainty. Since the Decision’s rationale is consistent with *Turner*, there is no conflict and this Court should not exercise its discretionary conflict jurisdiction to review the Decision.

III. TO THE EXTENT THAT THE PETITIONERS’ CONTENTION AS TO OSHA REGULATIONS IS PROPER IN THIS ACTION, THE DECISION

DOES NOT COMMAND A CHANGE IN FEDERAL REGULATIONS. FURTHER, AS *TURNER* AND *REEVES* DO NOT ADDRESS OSHA VIOLATIONS, THERE IS NO CONFLICT.

The Petitioners have stated that the Decision expressly and directly conflicts with *Turner* and *Reeves* in three ways, the third of which is that it “deemed violations of OSHA standards insufficient to give rise to an inference as to whether the conduct that caused the violation is substantially certain to result in injury or death.” (Petitioners’ Brief, p.4) However, neither *Turner* nor *Reeves* address violations of OSHA regulations and their relation to substantial certainty.¹ In fact, the Petitioners simply conclude that the Decision has a far-reaching effect on federal regulation of construction standards without claiming that it actually conflicts with *Turner* or *Reeves*. Thus, the Petitioners have improperly addressed the merits of the action in their Jurisdictional Brief. However, if Petitioners’ argument is found appropriate, the Respondent responds as follows.

The Decision considers the OSHA regulations applicable to this case in the context of determining whether the employers’ conduct fell within the intentional tort exception to workers’ compensation immunity. In so doing, the Decision cites to this Court’s decision in *Fisher v. Shenandoah Gen. Constr. Co.*, 498 So.2d 882 (Fla. 1986) for the proposition that the failure to provide a safe workplace or to

¹ While the underlying facts of *Reeves* included an investigation by OSHA, *Reeves* held that the appellate court did not have jurisdiction to review a non-final order and never addressed the merits of the case. 889 So.2d at 814.

follow OSHA guidelines does not constitute an intentional tort. The Decision uses *Fisher* as support for its conclusion that the employers' conduct did not rise to the level of an intentional tort to overcome immunity under Florida law. In no way does the Decision command a change in federal regulation concerning the bracing of walls or create a conflict with the standards of OSHA.

Further, Petitioners misapply the law stated in *American Wrecking Corp. v. Secretary of Labor*, 351 F.3d 1254 (US App. DC Cir. 2003) to infer that "willful" disregard of OSHA regulations rises to the level of an intentional tort to overcome worker's compensation immunity. In reality, *American Wrecking Corp.* involved a review of an order issued at an administrative hearing and discusses the meaning of "willful" in the context of the issuance of a willful OSHA citation. *See Id.* at 1257, 1262. In no way does the court apply the definition of "willful" as it relates to conduct substantially certain to result in injury or death. Given that the Decision's analysis of OSHA regulations remains squarely within the context of the facts of the instant case and that neither *Turner* nor *Reeves* discuss the effect of OSHA regulations, there is no conflict between the Decision and either case.

CONCLUSION

The Decision does not conflict with either *Turner* or *Reeves*; therefore, there is no basis in which this Court may exercise its discretionary conflict jurisdiction to review the Decision.